### IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CHARLEY TOPPINO AND SONS, INC., et al.,

Petitioner,

V.

SEAWATCH AT MARATHON CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

EPIC METALS CORP., et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

SEAWATCH AT MARATHON CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

FILED SID J WHITE APR 22 1993 ELERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 80,872

ORIGINAL

CASE NO. 80,873

(Consolidated Cases)

### ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## BRIEF OF PETITIONER CHARLEY TOPPINO AND SONS, INC.

#### **Introduction**

This appeal involves the narrow question of what the legislature intended in a 1977 statute which tolled the statute of limitations for causes of action available to condominium associations until after developer control has passed to unit owners. As it pertains to this case, the Third District Court of Appeal has certified for the Court's consideration whether that 1977 tolling statute extends a three-year warranty which the 1974 Legislature gave to developers and to condominium unit owners with respect to the common elements of a condominium. The certified question framed by the district court reads as follows:

Does section 718.124, Florida Statutes (1991) [the tolling provision], grant a condominium association an extended period of time in which it may assert a cause of action for damage to common elements in condominium buildings, beyond the time granted [to unit owners and developers for a warranty] in section 718.203, Florida Statutes (1991), after unit owners have elected a majority of the members of the board of administration?

Seawatch at Marathon Condominium Association, Inc. v. Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc., 610 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) ("Seawatch") (App. 1).

The district court has held that the 1977 statute -- which tolls the "statute of limitations" for associations -- should be read to extend the three-year "warranties" on common elements which the legislature wrote into law for unit owners and developers. The court's decision allows the Seawatch at Marathon Condominium Association, Inc. (the "Association"), as an entity, to pursue a cause of action beyond the warranty term expressed in the statute on behalf of unit owners who themselves failed to initiate their suit within the prescribed three-year warranty term.

The narrow issue in this proceeding, then, is whether a time-barred cause of action possessed by unit owners under the warranty section of the so-called Condominium Act<sup>1/</sup> (the "Act") can be resurrected and exercised out of time by the association which the unit owners control. This brief will demonstrate that all legal and equitable principles augur against this Lazarus-like use of section 718.124 to revive expired rights which were unclaimed by the unit owners themselves, based on three elemental propositions.

(1) The warranties provided in section 718.203 -- granted expressly only to unit owners -- are a species within the family of rights concerning the common elements of condominiums which are possessed exclusively by unit owners.

(2) The only right a condominium association has ever possessed with respect to the common elements, limited in particular by legislative direction with respect to the statutory warranties created in section 718.203, is to pursue a claim as the "representative" of the unit owners.

(3) Since the unit owners of Seawatch allowed their warranty claims under section 718.203 to lapse prior to the time suit was filed on their behalf by their association, the Association could not have pursued a legitimate cause of action when it belatedly filed this suit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1/</sup> Section 718.101, Fla. Stat. (1987).

#### Statement of the Case and Facts

Seawatch at Marathon Condominium Association, Inc. (the "Association") filed its original complaint against Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc. ("Toppino"), as well as other defendants,<sup>2/</sup> on May 13, 1988. (R. 1-7). The complaint alleged that Toppino had manufactured and supplied concrete for the construction of the Seawatch condominium buildings which contained excessive levels of chloride. The chlorides were alleged to have caused corrosion of imbedded steel reinforcements within the concrete which, in turn, allegedly caused spalling and cracking of the structural concrete, cracking of ceramic tiles and seepage of rust-stained water onto vehicles parked beneath the structures. *Id.* 

An Amended Complaint was subsequently filed which re-alleged all pertinent counts against Toppino, including a breach of the statutory implied warranty of fitness and merchantability under section 718.203(2), among other things.<sup>3/</sup> The Amended Complaint (and a subsequently filed Second Amended Complaint) asserted that suit was brought by the Association, in its own right and as the class representative of unit owners

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2/</sup> Those other defendants were the developer, engineer, architect, contractor and subcontractor of the three Seawatch buildings. (R. 1-3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3/</sup> Allegations of alleged breach of common law implied warranties of fitness and merchantability, negligence, strict liability, and violation of the Florida Building Codes Act were dismissed with prejudice. (R. 537-39, 500-04, 507-13, 617-43). In ruling on these counts, the trial court was consistent with decisions which were later affirmed by the Third District Court of Appeal in Casa Clara Condominium Association, Inc. v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 588 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted, 602 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1992) and Chapin v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 588 So. 2d 634 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted, 602 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1992). The Court held oral argument on the consolidated Casa Clara and Chapin decisions on January 8 of this year.

under the authority of section 718.111(2), Florida Statutes, and Rule 1.221, Fla. R. Civ. P. (R. 47, 514).

The trial court dismissed the statutory warranty count of the Amended Complaint without prejudice, on two grounds: first, that the Association had failed to allege when it or individual unit owners had discovered the alleged defects in the concrete which were complained of; and, secondly, that the Association had not identified the dates that certificates of occupancy had issued for each of the three buildings. (R. 538). The trial court specifically instructed the Association to include in any future pleading "when the alleged defects became manifest." (R. 538).

In its Second Amended Complaint, the Association complied with the trial court's directives by stating that the unit owners had discovered the alleged defects in the concrete "during the one year interval following April 8, 1983," (R. 520), and that certificates of occupancy for the three buildings comprising Seawatch were issued, respectively, on February 19, 1982, April 12, 1982 and April 8, 1983. (R. 519). The Association also alleged that control of the Association was obtained by the Seawatch unit owners on August 10, 1985. (R. 517).

Toppino filed a motion to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint based alternately on the term for exercise contained in the statutory warranty itself and on the statute of limitation for product defects. (R. 687-727). In response, the trial court dismissed the statutory warranty count with prejudice. (R. 1119-20). The trial did not specify the basis for its dismissal.

The Third District reversed the dismissal of the statutory warranty claim and posed the certified question previously quoted regarding that claim. That court affirmed

the trial court's dismissal of all counts of the complaint other than the statutory warranty count, based on its decision in *Casa Clara*. 610 So. 2d at 420.

A timely notice to invoke the Court's discretionary jurisdiction was filed by Toppino, as well as by other defendants. The Court's jurisdiction was abated while the Third District considered, and ultimately denied the Association's request for rehearing. Since then the Court has established a briefing schedule and consolidated this proceeding with Case No. 80,873, a separate case number given to one of the other timely requests for review.

The Association has not invoked review by the Court, despite the rulings by the Third District which rejected its claims of breaches of implied common law warranties, negligence, strict liability and violations of the Florida Building Codes Act. A resolution of those various issues will be made by the Court in the pending *Casa Clara* case, argued on January  $8.^{4/}$ 

#### Statutes Directly Applicable to Toppino's Appeal

Section 718.124, Florida Statutes (1987), provides:

The statute of limitations for any actions in law or equity which a condominium association or a cooperative association may have shall not begin to run until the unit owners have elected a majority of the members of the board of administration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4/</sup> Casa Clara Condominium Association, Inc. v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 588 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted, 602 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1992) and Chapin v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 588 So. 2d 634 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted, 602 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1992).

Section 718.203, Florida Statutes (1987), provides in relevant part:

(2) The contractor and all subcontractors and suppliers grant to the developer and to the purchaser of each unit implied warranties of fitness as to the work performed or materials supplied by them as follows:

(a) For a period of 3 years from the date of completion of construction of a building or improvement, a warranty as to the roof and structural components of the building or improvement and mechanical and plumbing elements serving a building or an improvement ....

(3) "Completion of a building or improvement" means issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the entire building or improvement . . . .

(5) The warranties provided by this section shall inure to the benefit of each owner and his successor owners and to the benefit of the developer.

Section 95.11(3)(c), Florida Statutes (1987), provides in relevant part:

Actions other than for recovery of real property shall be commenced as follows . . .

(3) WITHIN FOUR YEARS ...

(c) An action founded on the design, planning, or construction of an improvement to real property, with the time running from the date of actual possession by the owner, [or] the date of the issuance of a certificate of occupancy . . . whichever date is latest; except that, when the action involves a latent defect, the time runs from the time the defect is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence.

Section 718.111, Florida Statutes (1987), entitled "The Association," provides in relevant

part:

(2) POWER AND DUTIES. The powers and duties of the association include those set forth in this section and those set forth in the declaration and bylaws and chapters 607 and 617, as applicable, if not inconsistent with this chapter.

#### Summary of Argument

The Association's lawsuit was not brought in a timely fashion. The tolling provision for claims which a post-turnover association may have does not operate to revitalize potential warranty claims possessed strictly by unit owners which were long since extinguished by the passage of time.

The tolling provision on association claims has no operative effect on the warranty provision established for unit owners. The rights of unit owners and associations as defined by the condominium law are neither interchangeable, nor identical. Since the Association could serve only as a class representative of unit owner claims under the warranty provision, the expiration of unit owner power to sue necessarily extinguished the mere derivative right of the association to sue.

In this case, the three-year warranty governing the manufacturer's supplying of concrete for construction had expired well before this action was instituted. Even were a four-year statute of limitations for product defects to apply to this action, the Association's filing was still too late based on the acknowledged date of discovery of the alleged defects.

Time-barred warranty claims once possessed by unit owners could not be reestablished either in the name of the Association or in its derivative capacity after their expiration. The tolling provision on association-based actions found in section 718.124 provides no extension period for warranty claims of unit owners under section 718.203. The certified question proposed by the district court should be answered in the negative, its decision reversed in part and the case remanded with instructions to reinstate dismissal of the statutory warranty claim.

#### **Argument**

#### 1. Background to enactment of the tolling provision.

The statutory warranties for unit owners which are involved in this suit were first created by the legislature in 1974 as part of the enactment of the Condominium Act. Ch. 74-104, § 16, Laws of Fla., creating § 711.65, Fla. Stat. (1975). The "tolling statute" which is the heart of this case -- section 718.124 -- was not enacted until 1977. Ch. 77-222, § 9, Laws of Fla. The evolution of these statutes makes sense only in the context in which they were formulated.

It is unusual in Florida to find explicit legislative history for a statutory enactment. This case, however, provides a rare instance in which a lawyer need not glory in the possession of analytic tools allowing for subtle penetration into the mists of legislative intention. Pedantry of any sort is unnecessary because legislative history on the warranty provision at issue is abundant, clear and specific.

The addition of statutory warranties for units owners, as a component of the condominium law, was impelled by the decision in *Gable v. Silver*, 258 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 4th DCA), *adopted*, 264 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1972). In that case, the Court determined that an implied warranty of fitness and merchantability should be extended in connection with the purchase of new condominium units acquired from builders to those in privity -- a warranty arising not from the Uniform Commercial Code but as a product of the common law. *Gable* -- the first Florida decision to recognize an implied warranty of fitness and merchantability for purchasers of newly constructed condominiums -- marked the potential for open-ended liability of condominium developers and builders,

uncircumscribed in duration, and potentially for other participants in the construction process.

In 1972, the legislature had established the Florida Condominium Commission (the "Commission"), which subsequently issued a report recommending the inclusion of time-bound warranties in the Act. (R. 852-53). That report contemplated proposed warranties akin to those a consumer might obtain for a car, tires, toaster, or most other products. Departing from the *Gable* decision, the report recommended removing the requirement of contractual privity from the warranty being proposed for enactment by the legislature, thus broadening its proposed reach to non-privity unit owners for the first time.

A recent court decision [Gable] has found that there is an implied warranty of fitness and merchantability that attaches to new condominiums that are sold by the builders. Even though this decision finds the implied warranty, it does not place any limits upon the time or the remoteness, and neither does it state the persons liable upon the warranty.

\* \* \* \*

The Commission is of the opinion that the implied warranty of fitness and merchantability should be stated with definiteness as to the persons liable and as to the period for which they are liable. Without some statutory limitation of these aspects of the warranty, there is difficulty in applying the warranty to units in a building that are completed and delivered to purchasers at different times, to units in different buildings of a condominium or cooperative that are completed at different times, and to different condominiums or cooperatives in a project that are completed at different times.

(R. 852-53) (emphasis added).

The Commission proposed that warranties should operate in like fashion to repose periods, and it recommended an enforcement period for unit owners which "expires" at the end of the identified warranty period. (R. 852).

This section provides that the implied warranty of fitness and merchantability attaches to each condominium or cooperative parcel . . . . *Each owner* of this property is given the right to enforce the implied warranty until the warranty expires.

(R. 852) (emphasis added).

In 1974, the legislature enacted the warranty legislation at issue here, which adopted the Commission's proposals both as to time limitations and the elimination of privity. Ch. 74-104, § 16, Law of Fla. Virtually all of the Commission's proposals were included in the original text of the warranty provision. The Commission had carefully assessed (1) the catalyst for the warranty section, (2) the need for temporal certitude, (3) the owner's sole right to the warranty, and (4) the need for some accommodation related to the transfer of the condominium association from the developer. The trail of reasoning is thoroughly documented.

The warranty as to the roof and structural parts of the building *nuns for a period of three years* from the completion of the construction or installation in the case of a contractor, subcontractors and suppliers. In the case of a developer, the period of the warranty begins with the date of the first occupancy or use of the building by a unit owner and runs for at least three years, and will be extended until six months after unit owners other than the developer acquire control of the association but for no longer than five years.

\* \* \* \*

The developer is held liable under the warranty for a longer period than the contractor, subcontractors and suppliers because the developer will be in a position of controlling the enforcement of the warranty against the developer so long as the developer is in control of the association. Hence, the association is given six months after the unit owners acquire control of the association within which to enforce the warranty against the developer, but the warranty will run in no event longer than five years. The five year limitation is indicated by present Section 711.24(3)(d) that limits a unit owner's cause of action against a developer because of violation of the disclosure provisions.

(See R. 852-53) (emphasis added).

The history and reasoning behind enactment of what is now section 718.203 reflects a clear intention that any warranties be finitely limited in nature, scope and term. The Commission's proposals, as adopted by the legislature *en masse* in 1974, have not since been substantially modified.

In 1974, the legislature also substantially amended the powers of condominium associations vis-a-vis suits on behalf of unit owners. In that legislation, the post developer-turnover association was authorized to maintain a class action "on behalf of unit owners" with reference to matters involving the common elements and structural components of buildings, among other things. See Ch. 74-104, § 7, Laws of Fla.<sup>5/</sup>

In 1976, the legislature again subjected the Condominium Act to significant overhaul. Some changes in terminology were made to the warranty provision, but none were viewed by the legislature as modifications to the substance of the section. *See* Ch. 76-222, Laws of Fla. and (R. 855, 864). By that time, court decisions were emerging as to the authority of condominium associations to sue for infringements to the common elements of a condominium. Three of these decisions are of especial importance here.

In the first decision, the Third District firmly concluded that a condominium association may only institute suit regarding the common elements "in its capacity as a

<sup>5/</sup> The assignment of rights to common elements exclusively to unit owners continues. Section 718.106(2), Fla. Stat. (1987), first enacted in 1976, for example, provides that: "There shall pass with a unit, as appurtenances thereto . . . (a) An undivided share in the common elements and common surplus."

representative of the individual condominium unit owners or in the alternative as a class action." *Reibel v. Rolling Green Condominium A, Inc.*, 311 So. 2d 156, 158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). The court held that a condominium association has no standing as a real party in interest to bring suit concerning the common elements of a condominium. 311 So. 2d at 158.

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