797

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

ILIN 47 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

CHARLEY TOPPINO AND SONS, INC., ET AL.,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 80,872

vs.

SEAWATCH AT MARATHON CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent.

EPIC METALS CORP., ET AL.,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 80,873 V

vs.

SEAWATCH AT MARATHON CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

H. HUGH McCONNELL, ESQ.
FLA. BAR NO. 216828
STEVEN M. SIEGFRIED, ESQ.
FLA. BAR NO. 208851
SIEGFRIED, KIPNIS, RIVERA,
LERNER & DE LA TORRE, P.A.
201 Alhambra Circle, Suite 1102
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
Telephone: (305) 442-334

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The developer until the time of turnover is in a position to discover and enforce breaches of Section 718.203 warranties that run in its favor, while condominium purchasers, having no control of the association, are not. The passage of Section 718.124 had the remedial effect of preserving all unit owner rights of action until turnover, when the unit owners could effectively act to enforce their rights through the vehicle of the association as their representative.

A condominium association is nothing more than an alter ego for the collective interests of its unit owner members — it has no substantive rights or interests of its own that are separate from those of its members. Logically, Section 718.124 must affect all actions of the association including class actions and actions for breach of the Section 718.203 implied construction warranties. Nothing in the wording of Section 718.124 suggests that class actions were not included under the broad definition of "any action" by the association. To impose that limitation upon the reach of Section 718.124 would render that provision useless for all practical purposes, because the only actions which need to be tolled are those to enforce unit owners' rights against developers. Section 718.124 was enacted to avoid leaving the rights of

condominium purchasers at the mercy of developers who have no incentive to sue themselves and every reason to allow unit owner claims to become stale before turnover of control of condominium associations.

Section 718.203, Florida Statutes, creates substantive warranty rights. The association is a proper party to bring an action for breach where warranties relate to the common elements of the condominium. The time periods in the statute define the time during which the warranties can be breached, not the time when suit must be brought. If a statute that creates a substantive right also limits the time to bring an action to enforce the right, it must do so with express language stating that "actions" are being limited. No such language appears in Section 718.203.

Although the Section 718.203 warranties were breached at the moment construction was completed, the time to bring the action for breach was tolled both by Section 718.124 and by the tolling provision of the statute of limitations generally governing construction defect actions, Section 95.11(3)(c), Florida Statutes. If that were not the case, the unit owners' warranty claims would have been foreclosed before the owners were even aware that their rights had been invaded and possibly even before they purchased their units. The Legislature did not intend in Section 718.203 to grant condominium purchasers wholly illusory warranties.

ARGUMENT

Section 718.124, Florida Statutes (1991), sets forth in "terse and unambiguous" language⁹ an unqualified tolling of <u>all</u> statutes of limitations affecting actions brought by condominium associations. The reach of Section 718.124 is broad and all-encompassing and must be construed to include actions brought by condominium associations in any capacity on any theory of recovery, including actions arising out of the Condominium Act: 10

The statute of limitations for <u>any</u> actions in <u>law or</u> equity which a condominium association or cooperative association <u>may</u> have shall not begin to run until the unit owners have elected a majority of the members of the board of administration. ¹¹

The petitioners raise two principal arguments to avoid operation of this statute in the present circumstances. The first argument asserts that Section 718.124 doesn't apply to actions brought by condominium associations as class representatives of unit owners. The second contends that the warranty periods in

Seawatch at Marathon Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc., 610 So. 2d 470, 473 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993).

Chapter 718, Florida Statutes.

¹¹ § 718.124, Fla. Stat.

That argument was raised in the trial court as a ground for dismissal with respect to all counts of the Second Amended Complaint. The argument <u>must</u> have been the basis for the trial court's improperly dismissing the following counts: Count V against the Developer (breach of common law implied warranty); and Count VIII against the Developer and Monroe (violation of the building code pursuant to Section 553.84, Florida Statutes). That argument <u>may</u> also have been the basis for the trial court's improperly dismissing Counts I through IV against the Developer, Monroe, (continued...)

Section 718.203, Florida Statutes (1991), are not really warranty periods at all. Rather, say the petitioners, they are periods limiting the time for filing suit for their own breach -- that is, they are curiously their own statutes of limitations or repose. 13

As we will show, neither argument has merit in light of the plain language of Sections 718.124 and 718.203, the overall scheme for turnover of control of condominium associations embodied in the Condominium Act, and the intent evident in the Act of providing condominium purchasers remedies that cannot be rendered worthless by the acts of developers before turnover of control.

Toppino and Epic, respectively (breach of the statutory implied condominium warranties pursuant to Section 718.203, Florida Statutes). The record is not clear, however; the other basis for dismissal of the Section 718.203 counts may have been that raised in petitioners's second main argument. See the following footnote infra.

This argument may have been the basis for the trial court's dismissal of the counts brought for breach of the Section 718.203 warranties. The several motions to dismiss resulting in the orders reversed by the Third District were argued in a telephone hearing, without benefit of a court reporter. In neither its oral rulings nor in the written orders of dismissal (R. 1119-1131) did the trial court articulate the basis for dismissing the Section 718.203 implied warranty counts. During the telephone hearing, counsel for Toppino raised both of the arguments of timeliness now raised by the petitioners. The trial court granted Toppino's motion without articulating which argument it had accepted. Immediately after the trial court granted Toppino's motion all of the other defendants moved for dismissal by adopting Toppino's arguments. The trial court then dismissed all counts against the remaining defendants, apparently on the same grounds as its dismissal of the claim against Toppino. Thus, one of the two arguments concerning timeliness (inapplicability of Section 718.124 to class actions and inapplicability of Section 718.124 to Section 718.203 warranty actions) must have been accepted by the trial court in its decision to dismiss the Section 718.203 counts, although nowhere in the record are the grounds stated.

I. SECTION 718.124 APPLIES TO <u>ANY</u> ACTION OF CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATIONS -- INCLUDING CLASS ACTIONS

The Condominium Act invests a condominium association with the capacity to sue with respect to the exercise of its statutory powers to maintain, manage and operate the condominium. § 718.111(3), Fla. Stat. 4 After turnover an association may sue in its own name on behalf of its unit owners concerning matters of common interest. Id. The petitioners' argument that Section 718.124 does not apply to class actions is bottomed on the shaky premise that an association "has" an action when it sues in the exercise of its powers but does not "have" an action when it sues behalf of its members. Nothing in the wording on Section 718.124 gives support for distinguishing between actions brought in different circumstances by an association. Rather, the broad language of the statute discourages the making of any distinctions whatsoever. "Any" action means just that - any action

Section 718.111(3), Florida Statutes (1991) (formerly numbered 718.111(2)) empowers associations to bring actions both on their own behalf and as class representative of the unit owners, as follows:

⁽³⁾ POWER TO MANAGE CONDOMINIUM PROPERTY AND TO CONTRACT, SUE, AND BE SUED. - The association may contract, sue, or be sued with respect to the exercise or nonexercise of its powers. For these purposes, the powers of the association include, but are not limited to, the maintenance, management, and operation of the condominium property. After control of the association is obtained by unit owners other than the developer, the association may institute, maintain, settle, or appeal actions or hearings in its name on behalf of all unit owners concerning matters of common interest, including, but not limited to, the common elements....

brought by an association in any situation.

A Condominium Association Can Act Only On Behalf of Its Unit Owners

The distinction advanced by the petitioners makes no practical sense either. An association is <u>always</u> acting on behalf of its members — it can never do otherwise. Although technically a distinct legal entity, a condominium association has no purpose for existence other than to serve as a vehicle to provide the unit owners with an efficient means of acting collectively for the advancement and protection of their common interests in the condominium. Only unit owners can be members of the association, \$ 718.111(1)(a), Fla. Stat., and, in fact, "membership in the association is a required condition of unit ownership." \$ 718.103(2), Fla. Stat.

In effect the association is no more than the alter ego of its members. At its creation a condominium association owns no property in its name. Rather, the unit owners collectively own all common property in their names as appurtenances to their individual units. § 718.103(11), Fla. Stat. An association can later acquire property, but only "for the use and benefit of its members." §§ 718.103(3), 718.111(7), Fla. Stat. An association can enter into agreements and acquire leaseholds, but only "to provide enjoyment, recreation, or other use or benefit to the unit owners." § 718.114, Fla. Stat. Although a "unit owner does not have any authority to act for the association by reason of being a unit owner," § 718.111(1)(c), Fla. Stat., an association may

nevertheless contractually bind unit owners individually. Thus, when an association enters into agreements to improve condominium property, it is the individual unit owners who bear the ultimate obligation to pay. No lien can attach to the condominium property as a whole; rather, liens "may arise or be created only against individual condominium parcels," § 718.121, Fla. Stat. That is because the association does not own the common elements of the condominium -- the unit owners do. § 718.108, Fla. Stat. The association's power to contract for improvements derives solely from its duty to maintain, manage and operate condominium property on behalf of its members. § 718.111(3), Fla. Stat.

A condominium association's power to sue similarly derives from its duty to maintain, manage and operate the condominium. Id. That power is limited, however, to claims that affect the rights of the unit owners. The association does not have interests that are not identical to those of its members. Thus, a unit owner may bring any claim that an association may bring on behalf of its members, and where an association fails to bring an action any affected unit owner may initiate suit. § 718.111(3), Fla. Stat. 15

The converse is not true, however. An association does not have the ability as an entity to bring each and every claim that unit owners may bring. See, e.g., Avila South Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Kappa Corp., 347 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 1977) (condominium association does not have standing to bring class action for fraud); Bonavista Condominium Ass'n v. Bystrom, 520 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) (taxpayers/unit owners indispensable parties to suit protesting ad valorem taxes); cf. Brazilian Court Hotel Condominium Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Walker, 584 So. 2d 609 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (Bonavista legislatively overruled by amendment giving standing to (continued...)

Both the Association and the Unit Owners May Sue for Breach of Warranties

Not surprisingly in view of the unique and inextricable relationship between associations and unit owners, Florida courts have consistently recognized that both unit owners individually and associations on behalf of their members have the capacity to sue builders for defective construction on a variety of theories, including breach of warranty. See, e.g., Juno by the Sea Condominium Apartments, Inc. v. Juno by the Sea North Condominium Ass'n (The Tower), Inc., 418 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (association "proper party" in action for breach of implied and express warranties and negligence in construction); Wittington Condominium Apartments, Inc. v. Braemar Corp., 313 So. 2d 463 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), cert. denied, 327 So. 2d 31 (1976) (association has capacity as individual entity to bring suit for breach of contract, breach of warranty and negligence); Schmeck v. Sea Oats Condominium Ass'n, Inc. 441 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) (warranties run in favor of both association and unit owners); Bay Park Towers Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. H.J. Ross & Assoc., 503 So. 2d 1333 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (association allowed to intervene as real party in interest in warranty action); Carlandia Corp. v. Rogers and Ford Constr. Corp., 605 So. 2d 1014 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), rev. granted, __ So. 2d ___, Table No. 80,788 (Fla. April 16, 1993) (individual

^{15(...}continued) condominium associations in ad valorem tax suits, but right of affected unit owners to opt out preserved).

as real party in interest has standing to sue for construction defects in common elements).

These cases reflect that condominium warranties relating to construction of the common elements run to the unit owners individually and collectively, and that where construction defects affect the common elements the association, through its power to maintain the condominium on behalf of the unit owners collectively, is a proper party to sue for breach. Nothing in the wording of Section 718.203 suggests that the statutory warranties created therein were intended to be enforced any differently than the common law warranties recognized in Gable v. Silver, 258 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), adopted and approved, 264 So. 2d 418 (1972).

In view of the shared right of both associations and unit owners to sue as real parties in interest for construction defects, the petitioners' contention that Section 718.124 was intended to toll only actions brought by an association in its own name approaches metaphysical nit-picking. Nor is it reasonable in light of the plain purpose of Section 718.124 to prevent despoliation of unit owner rights by the developer prior to turnover of control of the association to the unit owners.

While unit owners own their units (apartments) individually, each owns an undivided share in the common elements, § 718.106(2), Fla. Stat., which the condominium association is responsible for maintaining and, if necessary, bringing suit to carry out its responsibilities. § 718.111(3), Fla. Stat.

Section 718.124 Makes Sense Only In Actions Against Developers and Their Agents

The Condominium Act contemplates that the developer will create the condominium association and then control it, acting on behalf of unit purchasers in all matters of common interest until sufficient units have been sold to trigger turnover of control of the association to the unit owners. § 718.301, Fla. Stat. Prior to turnover, however, a developer has little incentive to place unit owners' interests above its own. Accordingly, Section 718.124 was enacted:

to give condominium associations, as representatives of individual unit owners in matters concerning common elements, the right to sue after taking control, where the developer for reasons of self-interest or oversight, failed to pursue a cause of action for breach of contract or negligent construction.

Seawatch at Marathon Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc., 610 So. 2d 470, 472.

Section 718.124 as a bulwark against abuse by developers makes sense only when considered in connection with claims arising out of dealings between unit owners and developers and their contractors, suppliers or other agents prior to turnover. The most obvious of those claims are those for construction defects, where the Condominium Act specifically empowers associations to act on behalf of the unit owners and designates the class action as the most efficient vehicle to bring what would otherwise be a multiplicity of separate but virtually identical actions if brought by unit

owners individually. § 718.111(3), Fla. Stat.

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